0/a 5-5-86

CASE NO. 67,777 SOF

CLERK, Street

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BARNETT BANK OF WEST FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

W. RICHARD HOOPER,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON MERITS

Robert P. Gaines
Beggs & Lane
Post Office Box 12950
Pensacola, Florida 32576
904/432-2451
Attorneys for Petitioner

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This court has accepted jurisdiction on conflict grounds to review a decision of the District Court of Appeal of Florida, First District, (A 1-7) that conflicts with a decision of the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District (A 8-13).

Dr. W. Richard Hooper filed a complaint seeking to void a promissory note to Barnett Bank of West Florida on the ground that Barnett failed to disclose to him material facts relating to the loan transaction. At the conclusion of the evidence, the trial judge directed a verdict in favor of Barnett.

Upon appeal by Dr. Hooper, the District Court of Appeal of Florida, First District, reversed the judgment with directions to submit the case to a jury.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The district court of appeal summarized the evidence as follows (A 2-4):

In reviewing the directed verdict, we are required to view the evidence in a light most favorable to Dr. Hooper. So viewed, the evidence shows the following: When Dr. Hooper moved to Pensacola in 1973 he began doing business with the bank. He appointed the bank trustee of a trust and personal representative of his estate. Several years later, Dr. Hooper became interested in

making a tax shelter investment. In June, 1981, he met with Hosner to discuss tax shelter investments. Hosner took him to see Edwin Riffel, the loan officer in charge of Hosner's accounts at the bank. Dr. Hooper testified that Riffel told him he was familiar with Hosner investments, and they were sound and had passed IRS scrutiny. Dr. Hooper decided to make a tax shelter investment with Hosner and borrowed \$50,000.00 from the bank for the investment.

During the spring of 1982, Harry Stump, the assistant vice president at the bank who supervised the bookkeeping department, the proof department and the cash management department, became concerned at the rather large amount of uncollected funds in the Hosner Enterprises account. became suspicious that Hosner was involved in a check-kiting scheme. When the uncollected funds reached approximately \$200,000.00 in the Hosner Enterprises account in early May, Stump met with Riffel on May 11 and conveyed his suspicions to Riffel. Riffel was aware of the large amount of uncollected funds in the Hosner Enterprises account and was additionally concerned because Hosner was delinquent in his loan payments. fact, early in May, Riffel had told Hosner he had to get some money into his account. Also, by May 1982, Riffel knew that the IRS was investigating Hosner.

In his deposition prior to trial, Stump had testified that he became personally convinced that Hosner was check-kiting around May 10, 1982. However, at the trial, he explained that his deposition testimony had been too hasty and that a more accurate description of his feelings on May 11 was that he was concerned about a check-kiting scheme, but the scheme was not confirmed because "you can't confirm that it is a kite until you start to put a stop to it."

On May 11, Stump instructed bank employees to make copies of the checks which were being deposited to the Hosner account and send the copies to him, and only then could the deposits be credited to Hosner's account. After this particular reporting procedure began, the uncollected funds activity on Hosner's account increased.

On May 14, Stump admitted, the situation had deteriorated to the point that Stump felt the bank was "at risk." In other words, the uncollected funds in the Hosner account were very great, so that if the bank continued to pay the checks presented on the account, it might be paying out money which was not in the bank, and which could not be collected, and the bank would lose money. In an effort to protect the bank, Stump made the decision to return all Hosner checks presented to the bank on May 13 on the grounds that they were being drawn against uncollected funds. A computer printout of bank transactions, which is reviewed daily by bank officers, was prepared on the evening of Friday, May 14. However, this printout would not ordinarily be reviewed by other bank officials until the next business day, which was Monday, May 17. Stump testified that May 17 was the first time other bank officials would have known that Hosner's checks were being returned on the basis of uncollected funds. testified that after May 11 he did not discuss the Hosner situation with Riffel again until May 19 or 20.

The transaction giving rise to this litigation occurred as follows: Late in the afternoon of May 14, during a break from surgery, Dr. Hooper received a call from Hosner. He returned the call. Hosner put Dr. Hooper on hold and then came back on the line with Riffel in a three-way conversation. Dr. Hooper asked to borrow \$90,000.00 for purposes of investment. Riffel agreed to the loan. The conversation was very short and was

ended when Dr. Hooper had to return to surgery. Late that evening, after banking hours, a promissory note prepared by Riffel and a check, representing the proceeds of the loan in the sum of \$89,865.00, were delivered to Dr. Hooper for his signature by a messenger from Hosner's office. He signed the note and endorsed the check and these were returned to the messenger. A copy of this check for \$89,865.00, introduced into evidence at the trial, shows that the back of the check is stamped "for deposit only, Hosner Enterprises, Inc., 1170027502." Also introduced into evidence was a deposit slip dated May 17, depositing into the Hosner account a sum of money which included a check for \$89,865.00.

Meanwhile, at about this same time, another bank in town, First American Bank, began refusing to pay Hosner's checks. On May 17, checks totaling \$270,000.00 were returned to the appellee bank from First American Bank. On May 24, the Hosner Enterprises account had insufficient funds and the appellee bank had confirmed a check-kiting scheme. Nevertheless, by May 26, the account had been "zeroed out." At the conclusion of his testimony, Stump admitted that without deposit of Dr. Hooper's approximately \$90,000.00 check, Hosner's account would have been overdrawn "\$87,000.00 or something."

Dr. Hooper testified he never received any benefit from the \$90,000.00 he gave to Hosner. Moreover, he testified that had he known of the IRS investigation, of the check-kiting scheme, of the fact that Barnett had refused to honor checks on the Hosner Enterprises' account to protect its position, that Hosner was at the bank because he was told he needed to get money to the bank to cover overdrafts and delinquent loans, he would not have made the loan. Riffel testified, as justification for his actions, that he did not

disclose any information to Dr. Hooper concerning Hosner's account on May 14 because of the duty of confidentiality the bank owed to its depositor, Hosner.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Although the District Court of Appeal, First District, has attempted to distinguish its holding from that in Milohnich v.

First National Bank of Miami Springs, 224 So.2d 759 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969), (A 8-13), the holdings conflict. The Third District in Milohnich held that a bank can be found liable to a depositor for revealing information about the depositor's account. The First District has held in this case that a bank may forfeit the principal and interest of a loan if it does not reveal to the borrower (even though the borrower makes no inquiry) confidential information about the status of the account of another depositor.

The rule in <u>Milohnich</u> is preferable because it comports with the expectations of depositors that their financial affairs will be treated confidentially. It also comports with the strong public policy expressed in Article I, Section 23, of the Constitution of the State of Florida adopted in 1980, which guarantees every natural person the right to be let alone. This court should resolve the conflict between these two cases by approving the Milohnich rule.

#### ARGUMENT

It is important to note that the holding of the First District is not that there was evidence from which a jury could find a conspiracy between Barnett and Hosner to defraud Dr. Hooper. The essence of its holding is stated in its opinion as follows (A 5):

Although we are compelled to acknowledge that we are required to reach a decision based upon our review of a cold record, we nevertheless are of the opinion that the evidence below was subject to conflicting inferences concerning whether a confidential relationship existed between the parties and whether the bank had knowledge of material facts which it was required to disclose, under the governing legal standards, and that reasonable minds might well have reached differing conclusions on these issues. Accordingly, we are of the view that the trial court should have submitted these issues to the jury.

The First District appears to have based its decision on a faulty analysis of cases from other jurisdictions. It also overlooked Federal regulations that apply to applications for bank loans.

One of the cases cited by the First District in several places in its opinion was also one heavily relied upon by Dr. Hooper, Richfield Bank and Trust Company v.

Sjogren, 309 Minn. 362, 244 N.W.2d 648 (1976). Another case upon which the First District and Dr. Hooper primarily rely is First National Bank in Lenox v. Brown, 181 N.W.2d 178 (Iowa 1970). However, those two cases were based upon findings of fraud.

Richfield Bank and Trust Company v. Sjogren, 309 Minn. 362, 244 N.W.2d 648 (1976) began as an action to recover on a promissory note executed by Mr. and Mrs. Sjogren. They defended on a claim of fraudulent concealment. money was borrowed to purchase some additional air purification units from a corporation named National Pollution Eliminators, Inc. Mr. and Mrs. Sjogren had previously purchased a service route and ten air purification units from National. The president of National suggested the additional purchase, stating that financing could be arranged through Richfield Bank. Mr. and Mrs. Sjogren met at the bank with Michael Thompson, one of its loan officers. Mr. and Mrs. Sjogren had no previous dealings with the bank. Thompson approved the loan, knowing that the proceeds would go to National for purchase of the additional units. The Sjogrens subsequently learned that National was insolvent and could not deliver the units.

The evidence in regard to Thompson's involvement with National Pollution went considerably further than the evidence that Dr. Hooper was able to present of Barnett's knowledge of Hosner's activities. The court summarized that evidence at page 650 as follows:

Equally significant for purposes of this appeal is evidence showing that Michael Thompson, the loan officer of Richfield Bank and the only employee of the bank with whom respondents dealt, (a) was the only bank officer who handled National Pollution's account at the Richfield Bank; (b) was listed by National Pollution as its credit reference to such customers as the respondents; (c) had personally loaned National Pollution \$7,000 or \$8,000 of his own money; (d) had received certain "fringe" benefits from National Pollution such as traveling at the company's expense and using a Cadillac automobile furnished by the company; and (e) was an active participant in the affairs and decisions of the company, and, indeed, was described by one of the employees of National Pollution as "calling all the shots" for National Pollution from February or March 1972 onward, and as being involved in "just about everything that happened on a day-to-day basis in that company." Based on this evidence the jury found that Michael Thompson knew of the pertinent financial condition of National Pollution at the time of the Sjogren loan and of the actions, concealment, and representations of the officers of National Pollution in the conduct of their business in relation to the Sjogrens.

The court then discussed in some detail the duty of disclosure on the part of one who has a confidential or fiduciary relationship to another and who has actual knowledge of fraud. The court pointed out that there is a difference between knowledge of insolvency and knowledge of fraud. It said that the determinative question was whether Thompson actually knew that National Pollution was so irretrievably insolvent that

it had no reasonable expectation of fulfilling its obligations under the contract. It concluded that there was substantial evidence to show such actual fraud, expressing its ultimate holding as follows at page 652:

Therefore, we hold that under the unique and narrow "special circumstances" of this case, in which the bank had actual knowledge of the fraudulent activities of one of its depositors, it had an affirmative duty to disclosure (sic) those facts to the respondents before it engaged in making the loan to respondents which furthered the fraud.

The differences between <u>Richfield</u> and this case are obvious. The loan officer in Richfield was very closely involved in the affairs of National Pollution. He knew that National Pollution was to receive the loan proceeds as payment for air purification units. He also knew that those units were not available when the payment was made. He knew that National Pollution was not merely insolvent but was irretrievably insolvent.

In the instant case, the officer who made the loan knew only that the proceeds were to be used for a tax shelter investment to be made through Mr. Hosner, that Hosner was the subject of an IRS investigation, that Hosner was to some extent delinquent in a loan account at the bank and that Hosner had been writing checks on uncollected funds.

Richfield therefore applies a principle that is not supported by the evidence in this case. That principle has

no effect on whether Florida should continue to apply a rule of confidentiality.

The other case principally relied upon by the First District and Dr. Hooper is <u>First National Bank in Lenox v. Brown</u>, 181 N.W.2d 178 (Iowa 1970). Again a bank brought an action on a promissory note with the defense of fraud being raised. In upholding the decision of the trial judge in an equitable action, the court summarized the evidence of fraud as follows at page 184:

XI. In summary we now find, plaintiff bank made a loan to defendants Brown, (1) at that time knowing the proceeds thereof were being used by them to purchase an interest in certain personalty; (2) then holding a recorded substantial encumbrance on the property so being acquired; (3) but designedly failed to reveal such facts to the borrowers prior to consummation or renewal of the loan transaction; and (4) at all times secretly intended to ameliorate its unfavorable financial position attendant upon prior improvident encumbrance dealings with Evans by effecting the loan to defendants.

Again, the facts that led the court to find fraud are not present here. The evidence showed that the bank officer in <a href="Brown">Brown</a> indicated that the business in which Brown was to invest was doing well when he knew that such was not the case. The court also pointed to the fact that the bank was not called upon to disclose any confidential information because the encumbrances on the property being purchased with the loan proceeds were a matter of public record.

As recognized by the First District, the evidence presented does not support an inference that Barnett or its loan officer was guilty of actual fraud that would overcome its obligation not to reveal confidential financial information about its depositor.

Dr. Hooper frankly admitted that he had not asked Mr. Riffel for advice about the investment he was to make with Mr. Hosner (T 131). The only thing that he asked Mr. Riffel was whether the bank would make the loan (T 117). He did not tell Mr. Riffel anything about what was to be done with the loan proceeds, nor does the record show what was done (T 166). On the other hand, under Florida law Barnett had an affirmative obligation not to reveal confidential information about the status of its depositors.

The First District also relies upon Klein v.

First Edina National Bank, 293 Minn. 418, 196 N.W.2d 619

(1972). However, the bank prevailed in that case. The plaintiff, Mrs. Klein, sought to recover stock that she had pledged to the bank as security for a loan to a third party. A verdict was directed against her. The judgment against her was affirmed on appeal. The court summarized its holding as follows:

The main question for us is whether defendant's relationship to plaintiff was such as to impose on defendant a duty to inform plaintiff of all the details of the transaction. The trial court held that plaintiff failed to make a prima facie

showing of such a relationship, and we agree.

The First District also places reliance upon Tokarz v. Frontier Federal Savings and Loan Association, 33 Wash.App. 456, 656 P.2d 1089 (1983). Again, the court affirmed a judgment for the lending institution. The plaintiffs contended that Frontier Federal should have advised them of the condition of a contractor who was building a home for them with financing from Frontier Federal. The Washington court applied the familiar rule that there is ordinarily no duty of disclosure upon the bank and affirmed a summary judgment in its favor. One of the factors pointed to by the Washington court that is also present in this case was the absence of any inquiry by the borrower about the financial condition of the builder. It will be recalled that in this case Dr. Hooper did not make any inquiry of Barnett as to the advisability of the transaction with Mr. Hosner into which he was entering (T 117).

Recognizing the problem that a bank may have in complying with its new rule in view of the holding in Milohnich v. First National Bank of Miami Springs, 224 So.2d 759 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969) (A 8-13), the First District suggests in its footnote 5 that the bank can merely refuse to make the loan. In so stating, the court has apparently overlooked

the obligations imposed on a bank by the regulations under the Equal Credit Opportunity Act, Title VII of the Consumer Credit Protection Act, Title 15, United States Code, §§1601 et seq. The regulations are found as Part 202, Title 12, Code of Federal Regulations (A 14-18).

Section 202.9 of the regulations (A 17) requires a bank to notify a loan applicant of adverse action in writing. The notification must contain a statement of specific reasons for the action taken or a disclosure of the applicant's right to a statement of reasons within 30 days after receipt by the bank of a request made within 60 days of such notification. Although this notification requirement is applicable to many situations, there is an exception in the regulations for the type of business loan for which Dr. Hooper applied. However, Section 202.3(e)(2) (A 16) provides in regard to applications for business credit that Section 202.9 relating to notifications is applicable if an applicant within 30 days after oral or written notification that adverse action has been taken requests in writing the reasons for such action.

In short, a bank cannot merely inform an applicant that it is unwilling to make a loan. In many situations it is required to either give the applicant the reasons for its refusal to make the loan or inform the applicant of his

right to ask for such reasons. In the case of a business loan such as this, upon written request of the applicant, it must state the reasons.

In this case, Dr. Hooper did not ask Barnett for advice about his proposed investment (A 4 and T 117). Dr. Hooper was given full control of the loan proceeds (A 4 and T 118). Barnett had no way of knowing what Dr. Hooper and Mr. Hosner planned to do with the money. The First District holding requires Barnett to volunteer defamatory information about its depositor, Mr. Hosner, because he might intend to use the loan proceeds improperly.

The public policy in Florida of not allowing one to pry into the affairs of another was expressed when the citizens adopted Section 23 of Article I of the Constitution in 1980. That section provides:

SECTION 23. Right of Privacy.—
Every natural person has the right to be left alone and free from governmental intrusion into his private life except as otherwise provided herein. This section shall not be construed to limit the public's right of access to public records and meetings as provided by law.

Although this provision of the Declaration of Rights of the Constitution of the State of Florida appears to be primarily directed against governmental intrusion, we believe that it also means that the people of Florida do not want their courts to require their banks to disclose to other

citizens their private financial affairs.

## CONCLUSION

This court should approve the holding in <u>Milohnich</u>

v. First National Bank of Miami Springs, 224 So.2d 759 (Fla.

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