0/a 5-5-86

CASE NO. 67,777

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SID J. WHITE MAR 19 1986 CLERK, SUPREME COURT BARNETT BANK OF WEST FLORIDA, Chief Deputy Clerk Petitioner,

V.

W. RICHARD HOOPER,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

DONALD H. PARTINGTON, ESQUIRE ROBERT D. HART, JR., ESQUIRE Clark, Partington, Hart, Larry Bond & Stackhouse Suite 800, First Florida Bank Building 125 West Romana Street Post Office Drawer 12585 Pensacola, Florida 32573-2585 (904) 434-3273 Attorneys for Respondent

INTRODUCTION

In this brief the parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court. The following symbols will be used: (R.) Record on appeal; (T.) Transcript. Unless otherwise stated, any emphasis in this brief is supplied by the respondent/plaintiff.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The facts set forth in petitioner's brief omit the following: When Hosner made the telephone call to Dr. Hooper, Hosner told Dr. Hooper that Dr. Hooper needed to borrow money for his investment, and that he had to do it that day. <u>Hooper v. Barnett Bank of West Florida</u>, 474 So.2d 1253, 1256 n.2, 1259 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985).

ISSUE

I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE FACTS IN THIS CASE WOULD PERMIT A JURY TO FIND THAT THE BANK'S DUTY OF CONFIDENTIALITY TO HOSNER WAS OUTWEIGHED BY ITS OBLIGATION EITHER TO DISCLOSE MATERIAL FACTS OF FRAUDULENT ACTIVITY TO DR. HOOPER BEFORE MAKING THE LOAN IN QUESTION, OR, TO REFUSE TO MAKE THE LOAN.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The question in this case is whether a jury could find that the bank had knowledge of material facts concerning this transaction which the bank was under a duty to disclose Dr. Hooper, or in the alternative, that the bank had to a duty to decline to make the loan to Dr. Hooper. As the First District Court of Appeal held, a jury could conclude that the transaction was not a routine, arms-length loan transaction, but instead was one engineered by a bank customer known to be at least seriously delinquent, and very likely also guilty of fraud in his dealings with the bank; and that nothing would have prevented the bank from insisting -as а condition to approval of the Hosner-arranged loan to Dr. Hooper -- that Hosner disclose Hooper the status of his delinquent loans to Dr. and overdrawn accounts with the bank; and finally, that the bank could have simply declined to make the loan.

On May 14, 1982, the bank had ceased honoring checks on Hosner's accounts in order to protect itself from financial losses. Its self- protective action was disclosed to Dr. Hooper. not The bank knew that there а substantial likelihood that the proceeds of was the \$90,000.00 loan to Dr. Hooper would be used by Hosner to cover Hosner's shortages at the bank, to the detriment

of Dr. Hooper. And, the loan proceeds in fact were deposited in Hosner's account.

The First District Court of Appeal specifically recognized the concept of bank confidentiality. The court properly held that the duty of confidentiality must be balanced against a duty to disclose (or a duty not to make a loan which puts another customer at economic risk), when the bank knows of fraudulent activity material to the other customer's loan request. A check-kiting scheme, from which the bank had already begun to protect itself at the time of the loan in question, was a fraudulent activity obviously material to Dr. Hooper's loan request.

Dr. Hooper does not seek to erode the right of bank customers to a reasonable expectation of privacy in their financial affairs with the bank. Nor does he disagree with the contention that exceptions to bank confidentiality should be narrow. In this case, however, the bank cannot hide behind the shield of confidentiality because the bank exposed Dr. Hooper to serious economic risk by making the loan to him while at the same time actively seeking to protect itself from Hosner's fraudulent activity.

The law in Florida should not condone a rule which permits a bank to protect itself from known fraudulent activities of one customer, while permitting other customers

to be unknowingly victimized by the same fraudulent conduct with the bank's acquiescence and to the bank's benefit.

The First District Court of Appeal properly held that bank confidentiality should not as a matter of law prevail to the detriment of Dr. Hooper in this case. A question for the jury was properly presented on the duty of the bank to Dr. Hooper under these circumstances. This Court should approve the decision of the First District Court of Appeal.

ARGUMENT

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY THE HELD THAT THE FACTS IN THIS CASE WOULD PERMIT A JURY TO FIND THAT THE BANK'S DUTY OF CONFIDENTIALITY TO HOSNER WAS OUTWEIGHED BY ITS OBLIGATION EITHER TO DISCLOSE MATERIAL FACTS OF FRAUDULENT ACTIVITY TO DR. HOOPER LOAN IN BEFORE MAKING THEQUESTION, OR, TO REFUSE TO MAKE THE LOAN.

At the time Hosner arranged the loan now in dispute with Barnett Bank, the bank knew:

(a) That Hosner was engaged in a check-kitingscheme (T. 24-36, 86, 146);

(b) That Hosner was delinquent on loans in excess of \$700,000.00 (T. 143-152, 155);

(c) That the bank had acted to protect itself from Hosner's check kite by refusing to honor checks totalling more than \$291,000.00 (T. 56, 65-66);

(d) That Hosner was being investigated by the I.R.S. for tax fraud (T. 144; <u>Hooper v. Barnett Bank of</u> <u>West Florida</u>, 474 So.2d 1253, 1255 n.1 [Fla. 1st DCA 1985]);

(e) That the bank had instructed Hosner to get money into the bank to cover checks (T. 149);

(f) That Dr. Hooper had been encouraged to make his first investment with Hosner based upon representations

-7-

by the bank that the investments were sound and had passed I.R.S. scrutiny (T. 109-110, 115-116);

(g) That Dr. Hooper had come to Barnett Bank because of a special relationship between the bank and doctors at the Medical Center Clinic where Dr. Hooper was employed as a physician (T. 105, 140-141);

(h) That Dr. Hooper had named the bank as trustee of a trust and personal representative of his estate under the terms of his Will (T. 120); and

(i) That there was a substantial likelihood that the proceeds of the \$90,000 loan to Dr. Hooper would be used by Hosner to cover Hosner's shortages at the bank.

At the time of the loan in dispute, Dr. Hooper knew only that Hosner had told him Dr. Hooper needed to borrow money for Dr. Hooper's investments with Hosner and that Hosner had told him he (Dr. Hooper) needed to do it that day. Dr. Hooper was confronted with this information by Hosner's demand in a telephone call during a break from surgery. Had Dr. Hooper known the facts known by the bank, Dr. Hooper would not have requested the loan (T. 119-120).

Barnett Bank and Florida Bankers Association rely on <u>Milohnich v. First National Bank of Miami Springs</u>, 224 So.2d 759 (Fla. 3d DCA 1969). However, the district court of appeal was not required to decide in <u>Milohnich</u>

whether a bank would be prohibited from making disclosure if special circumstances in a particular case required disclosure. See id. at 762.

Notwithstanding the special facts recited above and the inferences which can fairly be drawn from them, Barnett Bank claims bank confidentiality required it to permit Dr. Hooper to make loan. This theory has been rejected by the courts of other states as well as by the First District Court of Appeal.

In Richfield Bank & Trust Co. v. Sjogren, 309 (1976), a bank officer who Minn. 362 244 N.W.2d 648 had knowledge of fraudulent activities of one of its customers made a loan to another customer to help out the first customer whose business was in financial difficulty and in fact insolvent. The Minnesota Supreme Court found was special circumstances which required disthat there were closure to the other customer notwithstanding the bank's claim of confidentiality. The court stated:

> The clear implication is that if the bank actually knew that its depositor was insolvent and engaged in fraudulent activity at the time of the transaction, then it would have been under a duty to disclose this fact, since . . .

"* * * There is a moral duty of banks to the community in which they do business to use reasonable care in seeing that

their depositors are not committing a fraud upon the public."

Thus, the instant case can be distinguished from those cases holding that a bank may not disclose the financial condition of its depositors if it can be shown that Richfield Bank had <u>actual knowledge</u> of the fraudulent activities of its depositor, National Pollution.

Id. at 651.

In affirming a jury verdict setting aside a loan to a customer by the bank, the Minnesota Supreme Court held:

> Therefore, we hold that under the unique and narrow "special circumstances" of this case, in which the bank had actual knowledge of the fraudulent activities of one of its depositors, it had an affirmative duty to disclosure [sic] those facts to the respondents before it engaged in making the loan to respondents which furthered the fraud.

Id. at 652 (emphasis in original) (footnote omitted).

A like holding is found in <u>First National Bank in</u> <u>Lenox v. Brown</u>, 181 N.W.2d 178 (Iowa 1970). In that case the president of the bank became aware of business adversities of one of its customers. He suggested that the customer sell his business. A prospective purchaser was brought to the bank and met the bank preident. The bank agreed to make the loan, but made no mention of an existing mortgage held by the bank, with the bank president

representing that the business was a going business. The court held that the bank had a duty to make disclosure of the true facts to the prospective purchasers and borrowers, and that failure to do so gave rise to the right to avoid the obligation.

In Richfield Bank & Trust Co. v. Sjogren, the Minnesota Supreme Court expressly recognized Milohnich and the qualified duty of bank confidentiality, but held that such duty must be balanced against a higher duty of bank which has knowledge of fraudulent activities of а customer. The Washington Court of Appeal, in Tokarz а v. Frontier Federal Savings & Loan Association, 33 Wash. App. 456, 656 P.2d 1089 (Ct. App. 1983), also recognized Milohnich, but held that the duty of disclosure based on special circumstances must be weighed against the duty of confidentiality. In the case at bar, the First District Court of Appeal also expressly recognized Milohnich, but concluded that the facts of this case permitted a jury to weigh the duty to disclose against the bank's duty of confidentiality to its depositors.

Finally, as the First District Court of Appeal held, and the Minnesota Supreme Court also held in <u>Richfield</u> <u>Bank & Trust Co.</u>, the bank had the option to and could have refused to make the loan.

In Florida, one who stands in a confidential or fiduciary relationship with another in a transaction between those parties must disclose material facts. When one party to a transaction has knowledge of the facts superior to that of the other party, and the latter does not have equal opportunity to become apprised of those facts, there is a duty to disclose material facts. Robson Link & Co. v. Leedy Wheeler & Co., 18 So.2d 523 (Fla. 1944); Ramel v. Chasebrook Construction Company, 135 So.2d 876 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961). See generally Quinn v. Phipps, 93 Fla. 805, 113 So. 419, 420 (1927); Hooper v. Barnett Bank of West Florida, 474 So.2d 1253, 1257 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); 37 Am. Jur. 2d Fraud and Deceit §§ 148-149; 27 Fla. Jur. 2d, Fraud and Deceit, §§ 38-39.

By way of analogy, there is no privilege for lawyers with respect to transactions which constitute the perpetration of a fraud. <u>Kneale v. Williams</u>, 30 So.2d 284 (Fla. 1947). If there is no privilege available to attorneys, there certainly is no privilege available to a bank, which has no statutory privilege, but simply a qualified duty not to disclose information concerning its customers in non-fraud situations.

This Court's recent statement in <u>Johnson v. Davis</u>, 480 So.2d 625 (Fla. 1985), speaks clearly to the bank's

obligation and duty to disclose all the material facts to Dr. Hooper before he made the loan:

One should not be able to stand behind the impervious shield of caveat emptor and take advantage of another's ignorance. Our courts have taken great strides since the days when the judicial emphasis was on rigid rules and ancient precedents. Modern concepts of justice and fair dealing have given our courts the opportunity and latitude to change legal precepts in order to conform to society's needs. Thus, the tendency of the more recent cases has been to restrict rather than extend the doctrine of caveat emptor. The law appears to be working toward the ultimate conclusion that full disclosure of all materials facts must be made whenever elementary fair conduct demands it.

Id. at 628.

Recognizing that non-disclosure is as devastating as disclosure, this Court noted:

In theory, the difference between misfeasance and nonfeasance, action and inaction is quite simple and obvious; however, in practice it is not always easy to draw the line and determine whether conduct is active That is, where failure to or passive. disclose a material fact is calculated to induce a false belief, the distinction between concealment and affirmative representations is tenuous. Both proceed from the same motives and are attended with the same consequences; both are violative of the principles of fair dealing and good faith; both are calculated to produce the same result; and, in fact, both essentially have the same effect.

Thus, although Barnett Bank and Florida Bankers Association rely on <u>Milohnich v. First National Bank of</u> <u>Miami Springs</u>, 224 So.2d 759, that case did not involve fraud. The court in <u>Milohnich</u> was not required to decide whether a bank would be prohibited from making disclosure when, as here, the facts required disclosure. Id. at 762.

Barnett Bank suggests that the if the bank refused make loan it would violate the Equal Credit to the Opportunity Act, 15 United States Code Section 1691 et seq., and its regulations. The Equal Credit Opportunity Act, has as its purpose the prevention of discrimination by lenders against borrowers based on race, color, religion, national origin, sex, marital status or age. Neither the act nor the regulations speak to the bank's option to refuse to make a loan when it has knowledge of fraudulent activities of one of its depositors who arranges the loan in question.

Section 202.9 of the regulations is not applicable to extensions of credit primarily for business or commercial purposes. See 12 C.F.R. § 202.3(e)(2).

The bank's suggestion that the Equal Credit Opportunity Act would have prevented it from refusing to make the loan flies in the face of its loan office Edwin Riffel's statement:

- Q. Now, with that knowledge and your feeling that you could not disclose that to Dr. Hooper, you could have simply told Dr. Hooper we are not going to make the loan, isn't that correct?
- A. I could have, yes.

(T. 155.)

The Equal Credit Opportunity Act was not written to preclude a bank from denying or refusing to make a loan fraudulent activities to one customer when of another customer are involved. Barnett's reference to the act simply is not relevant to any determination of the important issues now before this Court.

Similarly, the Florida Bankers Association contends that the Fair Credit Reporting Act of 1970 and the Right to Financial Privacy Act of 1978 are applicable. A similar contention was rejected in <u>Tokarz v. Frontier Federal Savings</u> & Loan Association, 33 Wash. App. 456, 656 P.2d 1089 (Ct. App. 1983), which held:

> Frontier contends it therefore had a legal duty <u>not</u> to disclose financial information about Mr. Post to Tokarz by virtue of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1681-1681t, and the Financial Privacy Act, 12 U.S.C. §§ 3401-22. The federal legislation is inapplicable since the former act applies only to "consumer reporting agencies" and Frontier does not fit within the definition and the latter applies only to access by a "government authority", and neither party is a government authority. Thus, we must

weigh the bank's duty not to disclose information about a customer against the duty to disclose which may arise under special circumstances.

656 P.2d at 1092-1093 (emphasis partially supplied).

The Florida Bankers Association suggests that the Right to Financial Privacy Act was enacted in response to <u>United States v. Miller</u>, 425 U.S. 435, 96 S. Ct. 1619, 48 L. ed. 2d 71 (1976). It is interesting to note that the Supreme Court of the United States in Miller stated:

> Even if we direct our attention to the original checks and deposit slips, rather than to the microfilm copies actually viewed and obtained by means of the subpoena, we perceive no legitimate "expectation of privacy" in their contents. The checks are not confidential communications but negotiable instruments to be used in commercial transactions. All of the documents obtained, including financial statements and deposit slips, contain only information voluntarily conveyed to the banks and exposed to their employees in the ordinary course of business. The lack of any legitimate expectation of privacy concerning the information kept in bank records was assumed by Congress in enacting the Bank Secrecy Act, the expressed purpose of which is to require records to be maintained because they "have a high degree of usefulness in criminal, tax, and regulatory investigations and proceedings."

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